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INTHE UNITED STATESDISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF KANSAS
PATRICIA McCURDY,
Plaintiff,
V.
Case No. 11-1392-CM
COWLEY COUNTY DEVELOPMENTAL
SERVICES, INC,,

Defendant.
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MEMORANDUM AND ORDER

Plaintiff Patricia McCurdy once workedrfdefendant Cowley County Developmental
Services, Inc. Defendant was a Kansas comiygi@velopmental disability organization that
determined eligibility for setiees and funding for persons widevelopmental disabilitiesSee
generally Kan. Stat. Ann. § 39-180%laintiff served as a Quality Assurance Manager for defendant.
During her tenure, plaintiff raised a numbemgokstions about theqpriety of defendant’s
organizational procedures and practices. She wodtee Kansas Attornegeneral for guidance and
made complaints that led to andit by Kansas Social and Rehdhtlon Services. She also began
digitally recording conversations @meetings while at the offic&eventually, after a dispute arose
over whether plaintiff needed to turn over the reaaydito defendant (and in what format), defendant
terminated plaintiff's employment. Defendant oiaithe discharge was for “willful insubordination
in tape recording [defendant’spét in conversations and meetinggDoc. 112 at 7.) Sometime aftef
plaintiff's discharge, defendant lost its comtravith Cowley County. Plaintiff now works for

defendant’s replacement.
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Plaintiff brings this employment retaliation casi&iming that defendawmtischarged her for

whistleblowing. Specifically, plairfficlaims that she was terminated in violation of the federal Fa

Claims Act (“FCA”), 31 U.S.C. § 3730(h)(1); tikansas False Claims Adfan. Stat. Ann. 8§ 75-7508;

and Kansas common law. Plaintiff also contethds$ defendant failed foay her all wages due in
violation of the Kansas Wage Payment Act (“RW’), Kan. Stat. Ann. 8§ 44-315, and that defendan
subjected her to negligent infliction of emotionatdess. The case is befdhe court on Defendant’s
Motion for Summary JudgmexiDoc. 111). Plaintiff concedes thalidity of defendant’s motion as t¢
her negligent infliction of emotiohdistress claim, but otherwise mtains that her claims should go
to trial.

The court has reviewed at lendtie briefs and the law goveng this case. As required unde
the legal standards for summary judgment, the dmstconsidered those facts that are uncontrove
and viewed them in the light most favorable to plaintiff.

First, the court considers pldiffis claims under the federahd Kansas False Claims Acts.
These statutes are similar and require that plaimdfticipate in protectealctivity to seek relief.See
United Sates ex rel. Ramseyer v. Century Healthcare Corp., 90 F.3d 1514, 1522 (10th Cir. 1996)
(requiring protected activity for an FCA retion claim); Dan Lawrence & Steve Robison,
Introducing the Kansas False Claims Act: A Primer, 79 J. Kan. Bar Ass’n 24, 25 (2010) (noting that
the Kansas False Claims Act borrowed heaviyrfthe FCA). Based on the facts and arguments
presented, the court cannot determine—as a mattawefthat plaintiff failed to participate in
protected activity under the federal or Kansas Falaanms Acts. And there are genuine issues of
material fact as to whether defendant had noti@ngfprotected activity; whieer plaintiff's protected
activity caused her termination; and whether deéat’'s proffered legitimate reason for terminating

plaintiff was pretextual See United States ex rel. Schweizer v. Oce N.V., 677 F.3d 1228, 1240-41

se

—

D

=

rted




(D.C. Cir. 2012) (applyingicDonnell Douglas burden-shifting framework tBCA retaliation claim);
Adler v. Contental Ins. Co., Civ. A. No. 95-2282-EEOQO, 1996 WL 677085, at *3 (D. Kan. Nov. 1, 19
(identifying elements for FCA claim). For tleeseasons, summary judgntes not warranted on
plaintiff's federal or Kansas False Claim Acts claims.

The court further finds that gaine issues of material fagteclude summary judgment on
plaintiffs common law whieblower claim. For this claim tsurvive summary judgment, plaintiff's
reports of wrongdoing need not gecifically tied to fraudulerdctivity (as required for the FCA
claims). A report of any “violatioof rules, regulations, or the lgvertaining to public health, safety,
and the general welfare” is sufferit, so long as a reasonably pmtdeerson would have concluded
that defendant’s activitiesonstituted a violationPalmer v. Brown, 752 P.2d 685, 690 (Kan. 1988).
Plaintiff's evidence—if believed— mesthis standard. Genuine issoésnaterial fact exist as to
whether defendant had notice of plaintiff’'s regand whether plaintiff's termination was in
retaliation for making the reports. The court gfere denies summaryggment on this claim.

Next, the court turns to plaintiffs KWPA clainDefendant contends thiaécause plaintiff wag
on unpaid suspension for the time she seeks paynefiendant does not evwplaintiff wages as a
matter of law. But plaintiff maintains that teaspension itself was unlawful. The court questions
whether this is a valid applicati of the KWPA, but at this timelefendant has not met its burden of
showing that the claim fails as a matter of lalihe court is open tavisiting this issue upon
dedicated briefing with legal citations. At thism&, however, defendant is not entitled to summary
judgment.

Finally, defendant raises an “after-acquirediemce” defense. Defendant’s argument on thi
issue is as follows: Had defendant knowat thiaintiff—while working for defendant—was

conspiring to have a different entity replacéedelant, then defendant would have terminated
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plaintiff's employment immediately. Defendant therefol@ms that any damages suffered by
plaintiff must be limited. Defendamiay be able to show this deferspplies at trial. But defendant
did not support its argument with any evidencee tburt therefore denies summary judgment on this
defense.
IT ISTHEREFORE ORDERED that Defendant’s Motion focSummary Judgment (Doc. 111)

is denied in part and granted in part. Tbart grants summary judgmeon plaintiff's claim for

negligent infliction of emotional distress, but dsnsummary judgment on the remainder of plaintiff's
claims.

Dated this 27th day of JanyaR014, at Kansas City, Kansas.

s/ Carlos Murguia

CARLOSMURGUIA
United States District Judge




